COMPLETE MODULI SPACES OF COBLE SURFACES

D. ZACK GARZA

ABSTRACT. We describe a modular KSBA stable pair compactification of the moduli space of Coble surfaces and compare it to a semitoroidal compactification of the corresponding period domain. We further describe KSBA stable limits in terms of integral affine structures.

Contents

1.	Introduction	2
2.	Coble surfaces	
	2A. The geometry of Coble surfaces	4
3.	Lattice Theory	5
	3A. Basic Theory	5
	3B. Summary	8
	3C. Moduli of Coble Surfaces	9
4.	Cusp Correspondence	11
	4A. Coble Cusps	11
	4B. Enriques Cusps	14
	4C. Sterk Cusps	15
	4D. K3 Cusps	15
	4E. Coble to Enriques Cusp Correspondence	16
5.	Degenerations of stable Coble surfaces	
6.	Appendix	18
Re	ferences	22

Date: August 18, 2024.

1. INTRODUCTION

Remark 1.1. A Coble surface is a smooth projective rational surface S with $|-K_S| = \emptyset$ but $|-2K_S| \neq \emptyset$. Such surfaces arise from the work of [Cob19] and [Cob29] on Cremona transformations of \mathbf{P}^2 preserving an irreducible rational sextic C with ten nodes – the blowup S along these nodes yields a Coble surface. [Cob19] shows that the Cremona class of such a curve C can be written as a union of finitely many projective equivalence classes, and that if C is sufficiently general then $\operatorname{Aut}(S) \cong W(E_{10})$, the Weyl group of an infinite root system of type E_{10} . Moreover, he shows that that modulo $\operatorname{Aut}(S)$, there are only finitely many smooth rational negative curves on S.

Coble surfaces occur as degenerations of Enriques surfaces and were ultimately classified in [DZ99]. As such, they are intimately tied to the theory of algebraic K3 surfaces equipped with a nonsymplectic involution, which were classified by [Nik79b]. For a reduced plane sextic C, the double cover of S branched along the proper transform of C is a K3 surface X which can be realized as a degeneration of the universal double cover of an Enriques surface, where X acquires an A_1 singularity fixed by the Enriques involution. The resulting quotient has a quartic singularity whose resolution is an irreducible smooth rational curve \tilde{C} satisfying $\tilde{C}^2 = -4$, and thus by [Nue16, §3] is a Coble surface.

We will be interested in Coble surfaces in the strong sense, where $|-2K_S| = \{C_1 + \cdots + C_n\}$ is a single reduced divisor comprised of n disjoint smooth rational curves referred to as *boundary components* of S. It is known that $1 \leq n \leq 10$, and for each such n, there is a moduli space $F_{\text{Co},n}$ of Coble surfaces with n boundary components. When n = 1, the moduli space $F_{\text{Co}} := F_{\text{Co},1}$ of Coble surfaces can be described as a boundary divisor \mathcal{H}_{-2} in the 10-dimensional moduli space F_{En} of unpolarized Enriques surfaces, and thus F_{Co} is 9-dimensional. Moreover, F_{Co} was shown to be rational in [DK13b] via a comparison to a moduli space of cuspidal plane quintics. A natural question is whether or not F_{Co} admits a geometrically meaningful, modular compactification $\overline{F_{\text{Co}}}$, and if so, if the boundary $\partial \overline{F_{\text{Co}}}$ can be described and classified. Toward this end, we turn to the stable pair compactifications of Kollár, Shepherd-Barron, and Alexeev [KS88; Ale96; Kol23].

Remark 1.2. The search for modular compactifications of moduli spaces is a central problem in algebraic geometry. The prototypical example stems from the work of [DM69; KM76; Knu83] on the Deligne-Mumford-Knudsen compactification $\overline{\mathcal{M}_{g,n}}$ of the moduli space of stable pointed curves $\mathcal{M}_{g,n}$. By [Mum65; Nam76; AN99; Ale02], a similarly modular compactification $\overline{\mathcal{A}_g}$ of the moduli space \mathcal{A}_g of principally polarized abelian varieties via stable pairs exists, the normalization of which coincides with a particular choice of toroidal [Ash+75] compactification by the work of [KS88] and [Ale96]. By [PS71], the coarse moduli space F_{2d} of primitively polarized K3 surfaces of degree 2d is isomorphic to an arithmetic quotient $D_{L_{2d}}/\Gamma_{L_{2d}}$ of a Type IV Hermitian symmetric domain associated to a lattice L_{2d} , where $D_{L_{2d}}$ is a period domain classifying Hodge structures of K3 type and $\Gamma_{L_{2d}}$ is an arithmetic subgroup of the orthogonal group $O(L_{2d})$. By [BB66], such domains admit a Baily-Borel compactification which is a projective variety. For F_{2d} and related lattice-polarized moduli spaces F_S of K3 surfaces, the boundary of the compactification consists of a configuration of 0-cusps (points) and 1-cusps (curves), see [Sca87]. By [Ash+75], there additionally exist infinitely many toroidal compactifications described by a choice of fans at each cuspidal point of the Baily-Borel compactification. The work of [Loo85] on semitoroidal compactifications simultaneously generalizes the Baily-Borel and toroidal compactifications, retaining the advantage that the boundary can be understood in terms of semifans and studied using toric geometry.

Semitoroidal compactifications are advantageous due to their explicit and combinatorial nature, but do not a priori carry a clear modular interpretation along the boundary strata. Alternatively, letting (S, R) be a pair consisting of a surface and a suitably chosen divisor, the work of [KS88; Ale96; Kol23] yields a compactification obtained by taking the closure of pairs $(S, \varepsilon R)$ in the space of KSBA stable pairs. Although KSBA compactifications admit strong modular interpretations, their boundary strata are generally quite difficult to describe. A recent strategy employed in [ABE23; AET23; AE23b; Ale+23] is to simultaneously leverage the advantages of both semitoric and KSBA compactifications by finding comparison morphisms between them. This allows the modular boundary of the KSBA compactification to be studied and classified using the combinatorics of toric geometry, lattice theory, and critically, advances in integral affine geometry and mirror symmetry.

The moduli space $F_{\rm Co}$ of Coble surfaces with n = 1 boundary components admits a Hodge-theoretic period domain description of the form $D(T_{\rm Co})/\Gamma_{\rm Co}$ where $T_{\rm Co}$ is a fixed lattice and $\Gamma_{\rm Co} \coloneqq O(T_{\rm Co})$ is its orthogonal group. Its Baily-Borel compactification $\overline{F_{\rm Co}}^{\rm BB}$ contains only one 0-cusp p_0 , and thus the combinatorial data of a semitoroidal compactification is determined by a single $\Gamma_{\rm Co}$ -invariant semifan associated to a lattice at p_0 . A canonical choice one can take is the Coxeter fan, formed by a fundamental domain of the action of the lattice's Weyl group, along with its reflections. Perhaps more naturally, one can also search for a semifan \mathcal{F} such that the resulting compactification $\overline{F_{\rm Co}}^{\mathcal{F}}$ is isomorphic to the KSBA compactification $\overline{F_{\rm Co}}$ for a suitably chosen divisor, and indeed this is what we do in this paper. To this end, we prove the following:

Theorem 1.3. There is a semifan \mathcal{F} such that there exists a morphism

$$\Psi: (\overline{F_{\rm Co}})^{\nu} \to \overline{F_{\rm Co}}^{\bullet}$$

from the normalization of the KSBA compactification to the semitoroidal compactification associated with \mathcal{F} . The Coxeter fan of T_{Co} is a refinement of \mathcal{F} , and stable Coble surfaces in the boundary of $\overline{F_{\text{Co}}}$ admit explicit descriptions in terms of surfaces associated to sub-Dynkin diagrams of Coxeter diagrams.

Remark 1.4. This result is made possible by recent advances in [AE23b; AEH21] on compactifications of K3 surfaces with nonsymplectic automorphisms, along with the theory of recognizable divisors developed in [AE23a]. We also critically leverage the related stable pair compactification of the moduli spaces of Enriques surfaces studied in [Ale+23]. In particular, we use the folding theory of Coxeter diagrams, their associated integral affine structures, and the theory of ADE + BC surfaces in order to explicitly describe stable degenerations of Coble surfaces.

Acknowledgements. I would like to thank my advisor Valery Alexeev for his guidance and support throughout this project. I thank Luca Schaffler and Philip Engel for many useful discussions. I would also like to gratefully acknowledge

financial support from the Office of the Graduate School of the University of Georgia and the Research and Training Group in Algebra, Algebraic Geometry, and Number Theory at the University of Georgia.

2. Coble surfaces

2A. The geometry of Coble surfaces.

Remark 2.1. For the general theory of Coble surfaces, we refer to [CDL24; DK24], along with [DM20; DZ99; DK13a; CD89; CD12; Dol17]. Following [DM20, §5.1], a **Coble surface** is a smooth projective rational surface S with $|-K_S| = \emptyset$ but $|-2K_S| \neq \emptyset$. We say S is of **K3 type** if $|-2K_S|$ consists of a single smooth divisor $C = C_1 + \cdots + C_n$, the union of n disjoint smooth rational curves satisfying $C_i \cdot C_j = -4\delta_{ij}$. For Coble surfaces obtained as the blowup along ten nodes of a nodal plane sextic, this calculation follows from adjunction and the genus formula. We refer to C as the *anti-bicanonical curve* of S, and note that $K_S \cdot C_i = -2$. The C_i are referred to as the **boundary components** of S.

By [Dol17, §5.1], such a Coble surface is known to be a *basic rational surface*, i.e. there is a birational morphism $\pi : S \to \mathbf{P}^2$. Writing $-K_S^2 = n$, one can decompose π as a blowup of N = 9 + n points in \mathbf{P}^2 . It is known that $n \leq 10$, c.f. [DK24, Prop. 9.1.5]. The image of C is contained in $|-2K_{\mathbf{P}^2}| = |\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{P}^2}(6)|$ and is thus generically a nodal plane sextic where the images of C_i are its irreducible components.

We will primarily be interested in the case n = 1, whence S is obtained as the blowup of a plane sextic along N = 10 ordinary double points, some of which may be infinitely near to each other. Such Coble surfaces are not the image of any birational but not biregular morphism from another Coble surface and are said to be **terminal**. We say S is **minimal** if the blowdown of any (-1)-curve on S is no longer a Coble surface, or equivalently if S does not admit a birational but not biregular morphism onto another Coble surface.

Remark 2.2. Let $\mathcal{L} \coloneqq \mathcal{O}_S(-K_S) \in \operatorname{Pic}(S)$; By [DK24, Prop. 9.1.1], taking a section $s \in H^0(\mathcal{L}^{\otimes 2})$ with Z(s) = C yields a double branched double cover $f: X \to S$ where X is a smooth K3 surface. By [CDL24, Def. 5.4.3], the preimages $f^{-1}(C_i)$ are disjoint (-2)-curves and Pic(X) is a 2-elementary lattice with invariants of the form

$$(r, a, \delta)_1 = (10 + n, 12 - n, \delta)_1.$$

By [CDL24, Def. 5.4.3, Eqn. 5.3.1], the ramification divisor R is explicitly of one of the following forms:

- $R = \emptyset$ if $(r, a, \delta) = (10, 10, 0),$
- R is a sum of two elliptic curves if $(r, a, \delta) = (10, 8, 0)$,
- R is the sum of a single rational curve and n-1 other disjoint (-2)-curves otherwise.

It is also known that $\delta = 1$ unless n = 8, c.f. [CDL24, Table 5.1]. Thus if S is a terminal Coble surface of K3 type with n = 1, the ramification locus of the K3 cover is a single smooth rational curve, and we obtain a lattice with invariants

$$S_{\mathrm{Co}} \coloneqq (11, 11, 1)_1 \cong \langle -2 \rangle \oplus E_{10}(2)$$

with orthogonal complement

$$T_{\rm Co} \coloneqq S_{\rm Co}^{\perp L_{\rm K3}} = (11, 11, 1)_2 \cong I_{2,9}(2) \cong \langle 2 \rangle \oplus E_{10}(2).$$

Explicitly, S_{Co} is generated by the preimages E_i for $1 \leq i \leq 10$ under f of the ten exceptional divisors of the blowup, along with the preimage E_0 under f of the pullback of a hyperplane class of \mathbf{P}^2 under π . One can show that $E_0^2 = 2$ and $E_i^2 = -2$ for $i \geq 1$, and thus these divisors form a lattice of the form

$$S_{\mathrm{Co}} \cong \langle 2 \rangle \oplus \langle -2 \rangle^{\oplus 10} \cong \mathrm{I}_{1,10}(2) \cong (11, 11, 1)_1,$$

and the identification $S_{\rm Co} \cong \langle -2 \rangle \oplus E_{10}(2)$ follows from the fact that both definitions of $S_{\rm Co}$ are 2-elementary lattices of signature (1,10) with discriminant group $(\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})^{11}$, which are classified uniquely up to isometry by their invariants $(r, a, \delta)_{n_+}$. Similarly, the identification of $T_{\rm Co}$ follows from the fact that it is again a 2-elementary lattice of signature (2,9) satisfying $q_{T_{\rm Co}} \cong -q_{S_{\rm Co}}$, and the isomorphism class of $q_{T_{\rm Co}}$ determines $T_{\rm Co}$ up to isometry. Alternatively, this can be seen directly using the mirror move $S \rightsquigarrow T$ of [AE22, Thm. 5.10] applied to $S_{\rm Co} = (11, 11, 1)_1$ in [AE22, Fig. 1], immediately yielding $T_{\rm Co} = (11, 11, 1)_2$.

The lattices S_{Co} and T_{Co} will be of fundamental importance in constructing the Hodge-theoretic period domain for Coble surfaces, yielding a coarse space for the corresponding moduli space.

Remark 2.3. Following [CD12], we note that this computation is a special case of a general construction. Let S be any basic rational surface and write S as the blowup of \mathbf{P}^2 at N points p_1, \dots, p_N with $N \ge 9$. It is a fact that $\operatorname{Pic}(S) \cong \mathbf{I}_{1,N}$, since one can construct a **geometric basis** in the following way: let e_0 be the class of the total transform of a hyperplane class in \mathbf{P}^2 and for $1 \le i \le N$, let e_i be the class of the total transform of the exceptional divisor over p_i . Then $\operatorname{Pic}(S) = \langle e_0, e_1, \dots, e_N \rangle$ and $\rho(X) = N + 1$; one verifies that $e_0^2 = 1$, and for $i \ge 1$, that $e_i^2 = -1$. Moreover $e_i e_j = 0$ for $i \ne j$, making this an orthogonal basis with respect to the intersection pairing, yielding $\mathbf{I}_{1,N}$. In the case of Coble surfaces, the effect of taking the K3 double cover is to twist this lattice by 2, yielding $\operatorname{Pic}(X) = \mathbf{I}_{1,N}(2)$, generated by preimages of the e_i . We remark that

$$K_S = -3e_0 + e_1 + \dots + e_N.$$

3. LATTICE THEORY

Remark 3.1. We refer to:

- [Vin85]
- [Vin75]

3A. Basic Theory.

Remark 3.2. The study of semitoroidal compactifications of moduli spaces of Coble surfaces largely reduces to lattice theory, of which we will now recall the essential notions.

Remark 3.3 (Basic invariants). By a **lattice**, we mean a free **Z**-module L of finite rank equipped with a nondegenerate¹ symmetric integral bilinear form β_L : $L \otimes_{\mathbf{Z}} L \to \mathbf{Z}$. We abbreviate $vw \coloneqq \beta_L(v, w)$ and $v^2 \coloneqq \beta_L(v, v)$ and refer to the latter as the **norm** of v. We write $L_R \coloneqq L \otimes_{\mathbf{Z}} R$ and β_{L_R} for $R = \mathbf{Q}, \mathbf{R}, \mathbf{C}$ for the **Z**-linear extensions of (L, β_L) to the rational, real, and complex numbers respectively.

¹A bilinear form is *nondegenerate* if for any x, $\beta_L(x, L) = 0$ implies x = 0.

A submodule $M \subseteq L$ is a **sublattice** if the restricted bilinear form $\beta_L|_M$ endows M with the structure of a lattice. A vector $v \in L$ is **isotropic** if $v^2 = 0$, i.e. it is norm zero, and more generally a sublattice $M \subseteq L$ is isotropic if $\beta_L|_M \equiv 0$. A lattice is said to be **even** if $x^2 \in 2\mathbb{Z}$ for all $x \in L$, and **odd** otherwise. A nondegenerate symmetric bilinear form can be linearly extended to $L_{\mathbf{R}}$ and by Sylvester's theorem, diagonalized with only 1 or -1 on the diagonal. We write n_+ and n_- respectively for the number of ± 1 entries on the diagonal. The **signature** of L is the pair (n_+, n_-) , and the **index** is $n_+ - n_-$. We say L is **definite** if either n_+ or n_- is zero, and **indefinite** otherwise. More precisely, if $n_- = 0$ we say L is **positive definite**, and similarly if $n_+ = 0$, we say L is **negative definite**. A negative definite lattice generated by elements of norm -2 is said to be a **root lattice**, and such elements are referred to as **roots**.

The **rank** r of a lattice is its rank as a free **Z**-module and is given by $r = n_+ + n_- = \dim_{\mathbf{Q}} L_{\mathbf{Q}}$. An indefinite lattice of signature (1, r - 1) is said to be **hyperbolic**. Fixing a generating set e_i of L, we define the **Gram matrix** of L as the matrix $G_L := (\beta_L(e_i, e_j))_{ij}$, and the **discriminant** as disc $L := \det G_L$. The discriminant is independent of the choice of generating set.

Remark 3.4 (Discriminant forms). The **dual lattice** to L is denoted $L^{\vee} := \text{Hom}_{\mathbf{Z}}(L, \mathbf{Z})$, and there is an morphism

$$\iota: L \hookrightarrow L^{\vee}$$
$$x \mapsto \beta_L(x, \cdot)$$

which, if L is nondegenerate, is an injection with finite index image. The **discriminant group** is $A_L := \operatorname{coker} \iota \cong L^{\vee}/L$; this is a finite order group of order $|\operatorname{disc} L|$. We say L is **unimodular** if any of the following equivalent conditions hold:

- 1. A_L is the trivial group,
- 2. ι is an isomorphism and $L\cong L^{\vee},$
- 3. $|\operatorname{disc} L| = 1.$

If $A_L \cong (\mathbf{Z}/p\mathbf{Z})^a$ for some a, we say L is p-elementary; in our applications we will often have p = 2. For even lattices, the form β_L descends to a well-defined quadratic form

$$q_L : A_L \to \mathbf{Q}/2\mathbf{Z}$$
$$x + L \mapsto \beta_{L\mathbf{Q}}(x, x) \mod 2\mathbf{Z}$$

We call the pair (A_L, q_L) the **discriminant quadratic form** of L. A **morphism** between two lattices is a morphism of **Z**-modules $\eta : L \to L'$ respecting the bilinear forms in the sense that $\beta_L(x, y) = \beta_{L'}(\eta(x), \eta(y))$, and is a **primitive embedding** if η is injective and coker η is torsionfree. An **isometry** of lattices is an isomorphism, defined in the obvious way. We write O(L) for the group of lattice automorphisms of L, denoted the **orthogonal group** of L, and similarly $O(q_L)$ for the **Z**-module automorphisms of of the discriminant form A_L which preserve the quadratic form. There is a natural group homomorphism $O(L) \to O(q_L)$, the kernel is denoted $\widetilde{O}(L)$.

Remark 3.5 (Orthogonal complements). Given two lattices L_1, L_2 we write $L_1 \oplus L_2$ for the **orthogonal direct sum**, which is the direct sum of the underlying modules with bilinear form defined by

$$\beta_{L_1 \oplus L_2}(v_1 + v_2, w_1 + w_2) \coloneqq \beta_{L_1}(v_1, w_1) + \beta_{L_2}(v_2, w_2).$$

 $\mathbf{6}$

We write $L^{\oplus n}$ for the direct sum of *n* copies of *L*. Let $\eta : M \hookrightarrow L$ be a primitive embedding of lattices, for example the inclusion of a sublattice. We write

$$M^{\perp L} \coloneqq \left\{ x \in L \mid \beta_L(x, M) = 0 \right\}.$$

If the ambient lattice L is understood, we often abuse notation and simply write M^{\perp} without reference to L. Note that $M^{\perp L} \oplus M \subseteq L$ may not be saturated, and is generally a finite index sublattice of L. We note that $M^{\perp L} \cap M \neq \{0\}$ in general.² We also note that for any lattices L_i ,

$$A_{L_1 \oplus \dots \oplus L_n} = A_{L_1} \oplus \dots \oplus A_{L_n}$$

Remark 3.6 (2-elementary lattices). Let L be a 2-elementary lattice. The **divisibility** of a vector $v \in L$, denoted $\operatorname{div}_L(v)$, is defined by $\beta_L(v, L) = \operatorname{div}_L(v)\mathbf{Z}$, i.e. the positive integral generator of the image of the map $\beta_L(v, \cdot) : L \to \mathbf{Z}$. For 2-elementary lattices, one always has $\operatorname{div}_L(v) \in \{1, 2\}$. We set $v^* := v/\operatorname{div}_L(v) \in A_L$. Letting $q_L : A_L \to \frac{1}{2}\mathbf{Z}/\mathbf{Z}$ be the induced quadratic form on A_L , we say v^* is **characteristic** if $q_L(x) = \beta_L(v^*, x) \mod \mathbf{Z}$ for all $x \in A_L$, and is **ordinary** otherwise. We say that a primitive isotropic vector $e \in L$ is

- 1. **odd** if $\operatorname{div}_{L}(e) = 1$,
- 2. even ordinary if $\operatorname{div}_L(e) = 2$ and e^* is ordinary, or
- 3. even characteristic if $\operatorname{div}_L(e) = 2$ and e^* is characteristic.

The 2-elementary hyperbolic lattices admitting a primitive embedding into Λ_{K3} were classified by Nikulin in [Nik79a, §3.6.2]. An indefinite 2-elementary lattice is determined up to isometry by a triple of invariants (r, a, δ) . Here, $r \coloneqq \operatorname{rank}_{\mathbf{Z}}(L)$ is the rank, $a = \operatorname{rank}_{\mathbb{F}_2} A_L$ is the exponent appearing in $A_L = (\mathbf{Z}/2\mathbf{Z})^a$, and $\delta \in \{0, 1\}$ is the **coparity**: we set $\delta = 0$ if $q_L(A_L) \subseteq \mathbf{Z}$, so $q_L(x) \equiv 0 \mod \mathbf{Z}$ for all $x \in A_L$, and $\delta = 1$ otherwise. We accordingly specify such lattices using the notation $(r, a, \delta)_{n_+}$.

Remark 3.7 (Twists of a lattice). If L is a lattice with bilinear for β_L , define L(n) to be the twist of L by n, which has the same underlying **Z**-module but is equipped with the scaled bilinear form

$$\beta_{L(n)}(v,w) \coloneqq n \cdot \beta_L(v,w).$$

Remark 3.8 (The lattice $\langle n \rangle$). The lattice $\langle n \rangle$ is defined as the rank 1 lattice **Z** with one generator v satisfying $\beta_{\langle n \rangle}(v, v) = n$. The Gram matrix is the 1×1 matrix $G_{\langle n \rangle} = [n]$, and the associated quadratic form is $q_{\langle n \rangle}(x) = nx^2$.

Remark 3.9 (The hyperbolic lattice). In rank 2, there are two unimodular hyperbolic lattices: the odd $I_{1,1} := \langle 1 \rangle \oplus \langle -1 \rangle$, and the even $U := II_{1,1}$. We refer to the latter as the **hyperbolic lattice**, which can be realized as $U := \mathbf{Z}e \oplus \mathbf{Z}f$ with $e^2 = f^2 = 0$ and ef = 1, and thus the following Gram matrix:

$$G_U = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Remark 3.10 (ADE lattices). Any Dynkin diagram of type A_n, D_n, E_6, E_7, E_8 corresponds to a root lattice of the respective type. By convention, we take the negative definite twists of these lattices. Of particular importance to us is the E_8 lattice associated to the following Dynkin diagram:

²For example, let $L = U = \langle e, f \rangle$ and $M = \langle e \rangle$. Then $M^{\perp L} = M$.



FIGURE 1. The Dynkin diagram E_8

Remark 3.11 (The lattice $I_{p,q}$.). For any pair of non-negative integers (p,q), there exists an odd indefinite unimodular lattice determined up to isomorphism by its rank and signature:

$$\mathbf{I}_{p,q} \coloneqq \langle 1 \rangle^{\oplus p} \oplus \langle -1 \rangle^{\oplus q}$$

Remark 3.12 (The lattice $II_{p,q}$). Let *L* be an even indefinite unimodular lattice of signature (p,q). Then $p-q \equiv 0 \pmod{8}$, and *L* is uniquely determined up to isomorphism by its rank and signature:

$$\Pi_{p,q} \coloneqq \begin{cases} U^{\oplus p} \oplus E_8^{\oplus \frac{q-p}{8}}, & p < q \\ U^{\oplus q} \oplus E_8(-1)^{\oplus \frac{p-q}{8}}, & p > q. \end{cases}$$

3B. Summary.

Remark 3.13. We summarize the lattices that will be relevant to our discussion:

$$L_{\rm K3} = (22,0,0)_3 = U^3 \oplus E_8^2 = II_{3,19} \qquad E_{10} = (10,0,0)_1 = U \oplus E_8 = I_{1,9}$$

$$S_{\rm En} = (10,10,0)_1 = E_{10}(2) \qquad T_{\rm En} = (12,10,0)_2 = U \oplus E_{10}(2)$$

$$S_{\rm Co} = (11,11,1)_1 = \langle -2 \rangle \oplus E_{10}(2) \qquad T_{\rm Co} = (11,11,1)_2 = \langle 2 \rangle \oplus E_{10}(2)$$

$$S_{\rm dP} = (2,2,0)_1 = U(2) \qquad T_{\rm dP} = (20,2,0)_2 = U \oplus U(2) \oplus E_8^2$$

Lemma 3.14. Writing

$$T_{\mathrm{Co}} = \langle 2 \rangle \oplus E_{10}(2) = \langle h, e', f', \alpha_1, \cdots, \alpha_8 \rangle$$

 $T_{\mathrm{En}} = U \oplus E_{10}(2) = \langle \widetilde{e}, \widetilde{f}, \widetilde{e}', \widetilde{f}', \widetilde{\alpha}_1, \cdots, \widetilde{\alpha}_8 \rangle$

there is an embedding of lattices $T_{\mathrm{Co}} \hookrightarrow T_{\mathrm{En}}$:

$$\begin{split} \eta: \langle 2 \rangle \oplus E_{10}(2) \to U \oplus E_{10}(2) \\ (h, x) \mapsto (\widetilde{e} + \widetilde{f}, x) \end{split}$$

which sends the generator h of $\langle 2 \rangle$ to $\tilde{e} + \tilde{f} \in U$ and is the identity on the $E_{10}(2)$ summand. Since coker η is torsionfree, η is a primitive embedding.

Lemma 3.15. There is a sequence of primitive embeddings

$$T_{\rm Co} \hookrightarrow T_{\rm En} \hookrightarrow T_{\rm dP} \hookrightarrow L_{\rm K3}$$

which is unique up to $O(L_{K3})$. In particular, this yields an embedding $T_{Co} \hookrightarrow T_{dP}$ given by

$$\begin{array}{c} \langle 2 \rangle \oplus U(2) \oplus E_8(2) \hookrightarrow U \oplus U(2) \oplus E_8^2 \\ \\ (h, x, y) \mapsto (\widetilde{e} + \widetilde{f}, x, y, y) \end{array}$$

and thus an embedding $F_{\text{Co}} \hookrightarrow F_{(2,2,0)}$.

Proof. By [Ale+23, Lem. 2.4], it suffices to show uniqueness of $S_{\rm En} \hookrightarrow S_{\rm Co}$, i.e.

$$E_{10}(2) \hookrightarrow \langle -2 \rangle \oplus E_{10}(2),$$

or equivalently by untwisting,

$$E_{10} \hookrightarrow \langle -1 \rangle \oplus E_{10}.$$

This embedding is unique since one can write the codomain as $E_{10}^{\perp} \oplus E_{10}$. Similarly, by [Nik79a, Cor. 1.5.2, Thm. 3.6.3], the homomorphism $O(L) \rightarrow O(T_{Co})$ is surjective.

Lemma 3.16. The embeddings of lattices $\eta : T_{\text{Co}} \hookrightarrow T_{\text{En}}$ (resp. $T_{\text{Co}} \hookrightarrow T_{\text{dP}}$) induce locally closed embedding $F_{\text{Co}} \hookrightarrow F_{\text{En}}$ (resp. $F_{\text{Co}} \hookrightarrow F_{(2,2,0)}$) which extend to morphisms on the Baily-Borel compactifications.

Proof. This follows from [KK72, §5, Thm. 2].

Theorem 3.17. $F_{\rm Co}$ is the normalization of a closed subvariety of $F_{\rm En}$.

Proof. It suffices to show that $D(T_{\rm Co})/O(T_{\rm Co}) \rightarrow D(T_{\rm En})/O(T_{\rm En})$ is a finite morphism which is generically injective. The lattice embedding $T_{\rm Co} \rightarrow T_{\rm En}$ induces an injective morphism $D(T_{\rm Co}) \rightarrow D(T_{\rm En})$. It remains to show that the stabilizer of $T_{\rm Co}$ in $O(T_{\rm En})$ is precisely $O(T_{\rm Co})$ and the morphism is finite.

This morphism is finite because...

The stabilizer statement follows from...

I don't know how to prove this. Maybe one should embed into
$$T_{dP}$$
 instead to get the stabilizer statement? Finiteness is still unclear. Maybe one can use finite \iff proper and finite fibers, using Stacks tag 02LS. This can be checked Zaviski locally?

Maybe this can be proved using Zariski's main theorem: a birational morphism to a normal variety with finite fibers is an isomorphism onto an open subset. Is this morphism birational? What are the fibers, and how can we tell if they are finite?

3C. Moduli of Coble Surfaces.

Remark 3.18. We begin with a naive parameter space for Coble surfaces. Following [DK13b], by varying the coefficients of p_i in the planar blowup construction, one can construct $F_{\rm Co}$ as a locally closed subvariety of $(\mathbf{P}^2)^{10}/{\rm PGL}_3$, which is of dimension

 $\dim(\mathbf{P}^2)^{10}/\operatorname{PGL}_3 = \dim(\mathbf{P}^2)^{10} - \dim\operatorname{PGL}_3 = 2 \cdot 10 - (3^2 - 1) = 12.$

A posteriori, the number of moduli for a Coble surface is 9, which means that there should be 3 conditions imposed upon the configuration of 10 points. These 3 conditions are precisely the *discriminant conditions* described in [Cob19, §2, Prop. (10)]. Letting D be the corresponding discriminant locus, we can identify $F_{\rm Co}$ as an open subset of $((\mathbf{P}^2)^{10} \setminus D) / PGL_3$ at the level of coarse moduli spaces. We note that [DK13b] shows that $F_{\rm Co}$ is rational by relating it to a codimension one subvariety of a moduli space of certain cuspidal quintics in \mathbf{P}^2 . **Remark 3.19.** Alternatively, Horikawa [Hor78] and more recently [Ale+23] consider the following: let $Y := \mathbf{P}^1 \times \mathbf{P}^1$ and define an involution $\tau(x, y) := (-x, -y)$. Let $B \in |-2K_Y|^{\tau}$ be a τ -invariant anti-bicanonical curve in Y. If B passes through a τ -fixed point $x, y \in \{0, \pm \infty\}$, then the corresponding double branched cover branched over B is a nodal K3 surface X with covering involution ι_{dP} such that $Y = X/\langle \iota_{dP} \rangle$. Letting ι_{En} be a lift of τ , the quotient $Z := X/\langle \iota_{En} \rangle$ is a Coble surface. The case in which B does not pass through a τ -invariant point yields an Enriques surface Z, and an analysis of the corresponding moduli space is carried out in [Ale+23]. In this way, one realizes the moduli space F_{Co} of unpolarized Coble surfaces as a boundary divisor in F_{En} , the 10-dimensional moduli space of unpolarized Enriques surfaces.

Remark 3.20. By passing to the K3 cover, one can embed $F_{\rm Co}$ into an arithmetic quotient of a 9-dimensional Hermitian symmetric domain of type IV. Let $\Lambda_{\rm K3} = U^3 \oplus E_8^2$ be the canonical K3 lattice. We recall that for any primitively embedded lattice $S \hookrightarrow \Lambda_{\rm K3}$, letting $T \coloneqq S^{\perp \Lambda_{\rm K3}}$, there is a Hodge-theoretic description of the coarse moduli space F_S of S-polarized K3 surfaces given by

$$F_S \coloneqq D_T / \mathcal{O}(T)$$

where $O(T) := \ker (O(T) \to O(q_T))$ and D_T is a connected component of

$$\Omega_T \coloneqq \left\{ [v] \in \mathbf{P}(T_{\mathbf{C}}) \mid v^2 = 0, \, v\overline{v} > 0 \right\}.$$

Letting $E_{10} \coloneqq U \oplus E_8$, one can consider the Enriques lattices $S_{\text{En}} \coloneqq E_{10}(2)$ with $T_{\text{En}} \coloneqq U \oplus E_{10}(2)$. Letting

$$\mathcal{H}_{-2d} = \bigcup_{\delta^2 = -2d} \delta^{\perp D_T}.$$

We note, as in [DK13b], that $T_{\text{Co}} \cong v^{\perp T_{\text{En}}}$ for some $v^2 = -2$, which implies that there is a birational isomorphism $F_{\text{Co}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{H}_{-2}/O(T_{\text{En}})$. Thus up to birational isomorphism, one can present

$$F_{\rm En} = \left(D_{T_{\rm En}} \setminus \mathcal{H}_{-2} \right) / \mathcal{O}(T_{\rm En})$$
$$F_{\rm Co} = \mathcal{H}_{-2} / \widetilde{\mathcal{O}}(T_{\rm En})$$

where surfaces along the divisor \mathcal{H}_{-2} in F_{En} correspond precisely to Coble surfaces. We note that surfaces along $\mathcal{H}_{-4} \setminus \mathcal{H}_{-2}$ correspond to nodal Enriques surfaces, an interesting divisor in its own right.

Remark 3.21. We summarize the relevant moduli spaces:

$$F_{\rm En} = D_{T_{\rm En}} / \mathcal{O}(T_{\rm En}) \qquad \qquad F_{\rm En,2} = D_{T_{\rm En}} / \Gamma_{\rm En,2}$$
$$F_{\rm Co} = D_{T_{\rm Co}} / \widetilde{\mathcal{O}}(T_{\rm Co}) \qquad \qquad F_{\rm Co,2} = D_{T_{\rm Co}} / \Gamma_{\rm Co,2}$$

where

$$\Gamma_{\text{En},2} = \mathcal{O}(T_{\text{En}}) \cap \mathcal{O}(T_{\text{dP}}) \subseteq \mathcal{O}(\Lambda_{\text{K3}})$$

$$\Gamma_{\text{Co},2} = \text{Stab}_{\mathcal{O}(T_{\text{En}})}(T_{\text{Co}}) \subseteq \mathcal{O}(T_{\text{En}})$$

where $T_{\rm dP}$ is described in [Ale+23]. Note that we implicitly use the embedding $\eta: T_{\rm Co} \hookrightarrow T_{\rm En}$ of lemma 3.14.

Remark 3.22. By lemma 3.16, there are morphisms $\overline{F_{Co}}^{BB} \to \overline{F_{En}}^{BB}$ and $\overline{F_{Co}}^{BB} \to \overline{F_{(2,2,0)}}^{BB}$ which induce correspondences between the boundary cusps.

Remark 3.23. We set up the moduli space of KSBA stable pairs for Coble surfaces, possibly using the ramification divisor of the K3 involution (which is in this case not fixed-point free). The above embeddings should allow us to take closures of stable pairs in already existing moduli spaces.

4. CUSP CORRESPONDENCE

4A. Coble Cusps.

Remark 4.1. We recall the mirror move algorithm from [AE22]. We have Nikulin's 2-elementary diagram:



FIGURE 2. White nodes are $\delta = 0$, black are $\delta = 1$, double circled are $\delta = 1, 2$.

Remark 4.2. Having identified the 2-elementary lattice $S_{\text{Co}} = (11, 11, 0)_1$, one can apply the mirror move algorithm of [AE22, Thm. 5.10] to determine the 0-cusps and 1-cusps of F_{Co} . The outcome of the algorithm is summarized by the following tree:



FIGURE 3. Blue (resp. red) indicate lattices which are valid (resp. invalid) targets of mirror moves.

Thus $F_{\rm Co}$ has one 0-cusp corresponding to an isotropic vector v with

$$v_0^{\perp T_{\rm Co}} / \langle v_0 \rangle \cong (9, 9, 1)_1 \cong \langle 2 \rangle \oplus E_8(2).$$

Moreover, this 0-cusp v_0 is incident to one 1-cusp C_0 corresponding to an isotropic plane $J = \langle v_0, v_1 \rangle$ with

$$J^{\perp T_{\rm Co}}/\langle J\rangle \cong (7,7,1)_0 \cong A_1^{\oplus 7}.$$

where $v_1 \in v_0^{\perp T_{C_0}} / \langle v_0 \rangle$. In the diagrammatic language of [AE22, Fig. 1, Thm. 5.10], this corresponds to a U^2 move and can be summarized in the following mirror move diagram as a composition of two even ordinary U(2)-type moves:



FIGURE 4

Note that v_0 corresponds to a Type III boundary, while C_0 corresponds to a type II boundary. It is easily verified that the Coxeter diagram $G_{(9,9,1)_1}$ at v_0 has precisely one maximal parabolic subdiagram, corresponding to a finite-index root lattice of type A_7 . We note that by [AE22, §5], such isotropic vectors are unique up to $O(T_{\rm Co})$, and so we can choose representatives:

- $v_0 = e'$,
- $v_1 = 2h + \alpha_1 + \alpha_2$.

Calculations verify that $v_0^2 = v_1^2 = 0$, that $v_1 \in v_0^{T_{\rm Co}} / \langle v_0 \rangle$, and that $v_0 v_1 = 0$, and thus $J \coloneqq \langle v_0, v_1 \rangle$ is an admissible choice of an isotropic plane. We further note that $\operatorname{div}_{T_{\rm Co}}(v_0) = \operatorname{div}_{T_{\rm Co}}(v_1) = 2$, which will be an important invariant for establishing a correspondence to cusps of other moduli spaces. For an isotropic plane J, we denote the divisibilities of the constituent generating vectors as a tuple (d_1, d_2) , and in this convention we have $\operatorname{div}_{T_{\rm Co}}(v_0, v_1) = (2, 2)$. We summarize this in the following boundary cusp diagram:



FIGURE 5. Cusp diagram for $F_{\text{Co}} = F_{(11,11,1)}$ where $T_{\text{Co}} = \langle 2 \rangle \oplus E_{10}(2)$.

Remark 4.3. As further proof that this cusp diagram is correct, we can use the theory of Coxeter diagrams. Given an isotropic vector $e \in L$ a lattice of signature (2, n), the lattice $e^{\perp L} / \langle e \rangle$ is a hyperbolic lattice equipped with a root system R_e with a Coxeter diagram G_e . Generally, when e corresponds to a 0-cusp in a Baily-Borel compactification, the adjacent 1-cusps correspond precisely to maximal parabolic subdiagrams of G_e . The cusp diagram above suggests that the 0-cusp v_0 should have a Coxeter diagram G_{v_0} with precisely one maximal parabolic subdiagram. One can run Vinberg's algorithm to determine the Coxeter diagram for v_0 , and it is a straightforward check to determine that there is indeed a unique maximal parabolic subdiagram of the form $\widetilde{B}_7(2)$:



FIGURE 6. The unique maximal parabolic subdiagram $B_7(2)$ of $(9,9,1)_1$, corresponding to single one-cusp $(7,7,1)_0$ in $F_{\rm Co}$.

Remark 4.4.

$$\operatorname{div}_{T_{\mathrm{dP}}}(v_0) = 2$$
 $\operatorname{div}_{T_{\mathrm{dP}}}(v_1) = 1.$

The former is clear, since the image of v_0 in T_{dP} is $e' \in U(2)$ and e'f' = 2. The latter follows from the fact that $v_1\alpha_3 = 1$.

Remark 4.5. We note the divisibilities of v_i under various lattice embeddings:

Coble Vector	Representative	$\operatorname{div}_{T_{\operatorname{Co}}}$	$\operatorname{div}_{T_{\operatorname{En}}}$	$\operatorname{div}_{T_{\mathrm{dP}}}$
v_0	e'	2	2	2
v_1	$2h + \alpha_1 + \alpha_2$	2	2	1

TABLE 1. Isotropic vectors in $F_{\text{En},2}$ and their divisibilities.

More concisely:

Lattice	Image of v_0	Image of v_1	Divisibility
$T_{\rm Co}$	e'	$2h + \alpha_1 + \alpha_2$	(2,2)
$T_{\rm En}$	e'	$2e + 2f + \alpha_1 + \alpha_2$	(2,2)
$T_{\rm dP}$	e'	$2e + 2f + \alpha_1 + \widetilde{\alpha}_1 + \alpha_2 + \widetilde{\alpha}_2$	(2,1)

TABLE 2. Isotropic vectors in $F_{\text{En},2}$ and their divisibilities.

4B. Enriques Cusps.

Remark 4.6. We recall the cusp diagram of F_{En} :

$$\operatorname{div} \langle e, e' \rangle = (1, 2) \qquad \operatorname{div} \langle e', 2e + 2f + 2\bar{\alpha}_1 \rangle = (2, 2)$$
$$\operatorname{div} \langle e \rangle = 1 \qquad \operatorname{div} \langle e' \rangle = 2$$
$$\underbrace{E_{10}(2)}_{(10,10,0)_1} \underbrace{E_8(2)}_{(8,8,0)_0} \underbrace{\mathbb{D}^2_{(10,8,0)_1}}_{(10,8,0)_1} \underbrace{A_1^{\oplus 8} *}_{(8,6,0)_0}$$

FIGURE 7. Cusp diagram for $F_{\rm En}=F_{(10,10,0)}$ corresponding to $T_{\rm En}=U\oplus E_{10}(2).$

This can be recovered using the mirror move algorithm:



FIGURE 8

Remark 4.7. We recall the Coxeter diagrams and their maximal parabolic subdiagrams at the 0-cusps of $F_{\rm En}$:



4C. Sterk Cusps.

Remark 4.8. We recall Sterk's cusp diagram for $F_{\text{En},2}$:



FIGURE 10. Sterk's cusp diagram

We have the following divisibilities in various lattices:

4D. K3 Cusps.

Remark 4.9. We recall the cusp diagram for $F_{(2,2,0)}$:

Sterk Cusp	Vector	$\operatorname{div}_{T_{\operatorname{En}}}$	$\operatorname{div}_{T_{\mathrm{K3}}}$
1	e	1	1
2	e'	2	2
3	$e' + f' + \overline{\alpha}_8$	2	1
4	$2e' + f' + \overline{\alpha}_1$	2	1
5	$2e + 2f + \overline{\alpha}_1$	2	1

TABLE 3. Isotropic vectors in $F_{\text{En},2}$ and their divisibilities.



FIGURE 11

4E. Coble to Enriques Cusp Correspondence.

Theorem 4.10. The embedding $\eta : F_{\text{Co}} \to F_{\text{En}}$ induces the correspondence on boundary cusps of the Baily-Borel compactifications shown in fig. 12.



FIGURE 12. Cusp correspondence $F_{\rm Co} \rightarrow F_{\rm En}$.

Remark 4.11. We prove this correspondence by considering divisibilities at the corresponding 0-cusps and 1-cusps in both moduli spaces. We first note that since T_{Co} can be written as L(2) where $L = \langle 1 \rangle \oplus E_8$, every $v \in T_{\text{Co}}$ satisfies $\operatorname{div}_{T_{\text{Co}}}(v) = 2$.

Lemma 4.12. Fixing notation,

$v_1 \coloneqq e'$	$w_1 \coloneqq \eta(v_1) = \widetilde{e}'$
$v_2 \coloneqq 2h + \alpha_1 + \alpha_2$	$w_2 \coloneqq \eta(v_2) = 2\widetilde{e} + 2\widetilde{f} + \widetilde{\alpha}_1 + \widetilde{\alpha}_2$
$J \coloneqq \langle v_1, v_2 \rangle$	$\widetilde{J} \coloneqq \langle w_1, w_2 \rangle$

We then have $\operatorname{div}_{T_{\operatorname{En}}}(w_1) = 2$.

Proof. This follows from the fact that $\tilde{e} \in U(2)$ where $T_{\text{En}} = U \oplus U(2) \oplus E_8(2)$ Noting that $\tilde{e}' \tilde{f}' = 2$, and \tilde{e}' is orthogonal to the remaining generators of in the Uand $E_8(2)$ summands, we thus have

$$\operatorname{div}_{T_{\operatorname{En}}}(w_1) \coloneqq \operatorname{div}_{T_{\operatorname{En}}}(\eta(e')) = \operatorname{div}_{T_{\operatorname{En}}}(\widetilde{e}') = 2.$$

Explicitly, one can check the pairing of \tilde{e}' against an arbitrary vector. Write $x + y + z \in U \oplus U(2) \oplus E_8(2)$, then

$$\widetilde{e}' \cdot (x+y+z) = \widetilde{e}' \cdot y \in \{0,2\}$$

since $y \in U(2)$ and $\tilde{e}' \in (U \oplus E_8(2))^{\perp T_{\text{En}}}$. Thus $\beta_{T_{\text{En}}}(\tilde{e}', T_{\text{En}}) = \beta_{T_{\text{En}}}(\tilde{e}', U(2)) = 2\mathbb{Z}$ since $\tilde{e}' \cdot \tilde{f}' = 2$.

Lemma 4.13. The 0-cusp $(9,9,1)_1$ in F_{Co} maps to the zero-cusp $(10,8,0)_1$ in F_{En} .

Proof. The cusp correspondence follows from computing the lattice $w_1^{\perp T_{\text{En}}}/\langle w_1 \rangle$ under the primitive embedding η , since $\eta(v_1) = w_1$ and v_1 is the isotropic vector corresponding to $(9,9,1)_1$ in F_{Co} . This particular case follows from a direct computation:

$$\frac{(\widetilde{e}')^{\perp T_{\rm En}}}{\langle \widetilde{e}' \rangle} = \frac{\left\langle \widetilde{e}, \widetilde{f} \right\rangle \oplus \langle \widetilde{e}' \rangle \oplus \langle \widetilde{\alpha}_1, \cdots, \widetilde{\alpha}_8 \rangle}{\langle \widetilde{e}' \rangle}$$
$$\cong \left\langle \widetilde{e}, \widetilde{f} \right\rangle \oplus \langle \widetilde{\alpha}_1, \cdots, \widetilde{\alpha}_8 \rangle$$
$$\cong U \oplus E_8(2) \cong (10, 8, 0)_1.$$

Alternatively, by [AE22, Prop. 5.5], the isomorphism type of $w_1^{\perp T_{\rm En}}/w_1$ is determined by $\operatorname{div}_{T_{\rm En}}(w_1)$; by lemma 4.12 $\operatorname{div}_{T_{\rm En}}(w_1) = 2$. Since the divisibility of the isotropic vector at the Enriques 0-cusp $(10, 8, 0)_1$ is also 2 and the two Enriques 0-cusps are distinguished by divisibility, the correspondence follows.

Lemma 4.14. Cusp $(7,7,1)_0$ in F_{Co} maps to cusp $(8,6,0)_0$ in F_{En} .

Proof. The results follows from verifying that the unique orbit J of a primitive isotropic plane in $T_{\rm Co}$ satisfies $J^{\perp T_{\rm Co}}/J \cong (7,7,1)$, and identifying the isomorphism type of its image $\tilde{J}^{\perp T_{\rm En}}/\tilde{J}$ in $T_{\rm En}$. One checks that both v_2 and w_2 are isotropic, and $v_2 \in v_1^{\perp T_{\rm Co}}/v_1$, and so J and \tilde{J} define isotropic planes in $T_{\rm Co}$ and $T_{\rm En}$ respectively. By [AE22, Prop. 5.5, Lem. 5.9], it suffices to show

$$\operatorname{div}_{w_1^{\perp T_{\operatorname{En}}}/w_1}(w_2) \coloneqq \operatorname{div}_{U \oplus E_8(2)}(2\widetilde{e} + 2f + \widetilde{\alpha}_1 + \widetilde{\alpha}_2) = 2,$$

since the isomorphism type of $\tilde{J}^{\perp}/\tilde{J}$ is uniquely determined by the isomorphism type of $w_2^{\perp T_{\rm En}}/w_2$ in $w_1^{\perp T_{\rm En}}/w_1$, which is in turn uniquely determined by the characterization of w_2 as odd, even ordinary, or even characteristic in $w_1^{\perp T_{\rm En}}/w_1$, which by lemma 4.13 is isomorphic to $U \oplus E_8(2)$. One checks directly in coordinates: let $x + y \in U \oplus E_8(2)$ and consider its pairing with w_2 :

$$(x+y)\cdot w_2 = (x+y)\cdot (2\widetilde{e}+2\widetilde{f}+\widetilde{\alpha}_1+\widetilde{\alpha}_2) = 2x\cdot (\widetilde{e}+\widetilde{f})+y\cdot (\widetilde{\alpha}_1+\widetilde{\alpha}_2),$$

where we've used orthogonality relations. We note that the first term is evidently even, while the second term is even because all pairings are either zero or divisible by two in the $E_8(2)$ summand of $U \oplus E_8(2)$.

5. Degenerations of stable Coble surfaces

Remark 5.1. We describe the KSBA stable limits of Coble surfaces.

Remark 5.2. We give an example of an integral affine structure for a degeneration of Coble surfaces.

6. Appendix

Remark 6.1. Following [Ale+23], a Kulikov model is a K-trivial semistable model $\mathcal{X} \to (C, 0)$ of a degeneration of K3 surfaces over a pointed curve C. For each such degeneration, one can define the dual complex of the central fiber $\Gamma(\mathcal{X}_0)$. For Type II degenerations of K3 surfaces, this yields an integral affine S^2 with singularities of total charge 24, and for Type III the dual complex is an interval \mathbb{D}^1 . The additional data of an integral affine polarization $R_{\text{IA}} \subset \Gamma(\mathcal{X}_0)$ describes the KSBA stable limit of a degeneration $(\mathcal{X}^*, \varepsilon \mathcal{R}^*)$. For Enriques (and hence Coble) surfaces, we take the corresponding dlt models $\mathcal{Z} := \mathcal{X}/\iota_{\text{En}}$ and half-divisor models

18

 $(\mathcal{Z}, \mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{Z}}) \coloneqq (\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{R}) / \iota_{\text{En}}$ where $\mathcal{X} \to (C, 0)$ and $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{R})$ are Kulikov and divisor models of their K3 covers.

Remark 6.2. The following is a representation of a Type II degeneration – it is a chain of surfaces whose dual complex is an interval \mathbb{D}^1 , where the ends V_1 and V_n are rational and the remaining V_i are isomorphic to $E \times \mathbb{P}^1$ for a fixed elliptic curve E. The intersections $V_i \cap V_{i+1}$ are double curves isomorphic to E.



A Type III degeneration can be represented by a triangulation of S^2 with singularities, depicted as follows:



FIGURE 14

Remark 6.3. The following is a combinatorial representation of a Kulikov model for Sterk 2.

COMPLETE MODULI SPACES OF COBLE SURFACES



FIGURE 15

References

- [Ale96] Valery Alexeev. "Moduli Spaces M_{g,n}(W) for Surfaces". In: Higher-Dimensional Complex Varieties (Trento, 1994). Berlin: de Gruyter, 1996, pp. 1–22.
- [Ale02] Valery Alexeev. "Complete Moduli in the Presence of Semiabelian Group Action". In: Annals of Mathematics 155.3 (2002), pp. 611–708. ISSN: 0003-486X.
- [ABE23] Valery Alexeev, Adrian Brunyate, and Philip Engel. "Compactifications of Moduli of Elliptic K3 Surfaces: Stable Pair and Toroidal". In: Geometry & Topology 26.8 (Mar. 2023), pp. 3525–3588. ISSN: 1364-0380, 1465-3060. DOI: 10.2140/gt.2022.26.3525. arXiv: 2002.07127 [math]. (Visited on 05/27/2024).
- [AE22] Valery Alexeev and Philip Engel. "Mirror Symmetric Compactifications of Moduli Spaces of K3 Surfaces with a Nonsymplectic Involution". In: (2022).
- [AE23a] Valery Alexeev and Philip Engel. "Compact Moduli of K3 Surfaces". In: *Annals of Mathematics* 198.2 (2023), pp. 727–789. ISSN: 0003-486X,1939-8980. DOI: 10.4007/annals.2023.198.2.5.
- [AE23b] Valery Alexeev and Philip Engel. Compactifications of Moduli Spaces of K3 Surfaces with a Nonsymplectic Involution. May 2023. DOI: 10. 48550/arXiv.2208.10383. arXiv: 2208.10383 [math-ph]. (Visited on 01/28/2024).
- [AEH21] Valery Alexeev, Philip Engel, and Changho Han. "Complete Moduli of K3 Surfaces with a Nonsymplectic Automorphism". In: Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., to appear (2021).
- [AET23] Valery Alexeev, Philip Engel, and Alan Thompson. Stable Pair Compactification of Moduli of K3 Surfaces of Degree 2. Feb. 2023. DOI: 10.48550/arXiv.1903.09742. arXiv: 1903.09742 [math]. (Visited on 01/28/2024).
- [AN99] Valery Alexeev and Iku Nakamura. "On Mumford's Construction of Degenerating Abelian Varieties". In: The Tohoku Mathematical Journal. Second Series 51.3 (1999), pp. 399–420. ISSN: 0040-8735.
- [Ale+23] Valery Alexeev et al. Compact Moduli of Enriques Surfaces with a Numerical Polarization of Degree 2. Dec. 2023. DOI: 10.48550/arXiv. 2312.03638. arXiv: 2312.03638 [math]. (Visited on 06/08/2024).
- [Ash+75] A. Ash et al. Smooth Compactification of Locally Symmetric Varieties. Lie Groups: History, Frontiers and Applications, Vol. IV. Math Sci Press, Brookline, Mass., 1975, pp. iv+335.
- [BB66] W. L. Baily and A. Borel. "Compactification of Arithmetic Quotients of Bounded Symmetric Domains". In: Annals of Mathematics 84.3 (1966), pp. 442–528. ISSN: 0003-486X. DOI: 10.2307/1970457. JSTOR: 1970457. (Visited on 01/28/2024).
- [CD12] Serge Cantat and Igor Dolgachev. Rational Surfaces with a Large Group of Automorphisms. Jan. 2012. DOI: 10.48550/arXiv.1106.0930. arXiv: 1106.0930 [math]. (Visited on 05/26/2024).
- [Cob19] Arthur B. Coble. "The Ten Nodes of the Rational Sextic and of the Cayley Symmetroid". In: American Journal of Mathematics 41.4 (1919),

REFERENCES

pp. 243–265. ISSN: 0002-9327. DOI: 10.2307/2370285. JSTOR: 2370285. (Visited on 01/15/2024).

- [Cob29] Arthur B. Coble. Algebraic Geometry and Theta Functions. American Mathematical Soc., Dec. 1929. ISBN: 978-0-8218-4602-5.
- [CDL24] Cdl20]cdl20 F. Cossec, I. Dolgachev, and C. Liedtke. "Enriques Surfaces I". In: (2024).
- [CD89] François R. Cossec and Igor V. Dolgachev. Enriques Surfaces. I. Vol. 76.
 Progress in Mathematics. Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 1989,
 pp. x+397. ISBN: 0-8176-3417-7. DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4612-3696-2.
- [DM69] P. Deligne and D. Mumford. "The Irreducibility of the Space of Curves of given Genus". In: Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. 36 (1969), pp. 75–109. ISSN: 0073-8301.
- [DK13a] I. Dolgachev and S. Kondo. "The Rationality of the Moduli Spaces of Coble Surfaces and of Nodal Enriques Surfaces". In: Rossiiskaya Akademiya Nauk. Izvestiya. Seriya Matematicheskaya 77.3 (2013), pp. 77– 92. ISSN: 1607-0046,2587-5906. DOI: 10.4213/im7959.
- [DZ99] I. Dolgachev and D.-Q. Zhang. Coble Rational Surfaces. https://arxiv.org/abs/math/9909135v1.
 Sept. 1999. (Visited on 01/02/2024).
- [Dol17] Igor Dolgachev. Salem Numbers and Enriques Surfaces. Jan. 2017. DOI: 10.48550/arXiv.1601.04222. arXiv: 1601.04222 [math]. (Visited on 06/27/2024).
- [DK13b] Igor Dolgachev and Shigeyuki Kondo. "The Rationality of the Moduli Spaces of Coble Surfaces and of Nodal Enriques Surfaces". In: *Izvestiya: Mathematics* 77.3 (June 2013), pp. 509–524. ISSN: 1064-5632, 1468-4810.
 DOI: 10.1070/IM2013v077n03ABEH002646. arXiv: 1201.6093 [math]. (Visited on 01/06/2024).
- [DK24] Igor Dolgachev and Shigeyuki Kondō Shigeyuki. Enriques Surfaces II. 2024.
- [DM20] Igor Dolgachev and Dimitri Markushevich. Lagrangian Tens of Planes, Enriques Surfaces and Holomorphic Symplectic Fourfolds. Jan. 2020.
 DOI: 10.48550/arXiv.1906.01445. arXiv: 1906.01445 [math]. (Visited on 06/14/2024).
- [Hor78] Eiji Horikawa. "On the Periods of Enriques Surfaces. II". In: Mathematische Annalen 235.3 (1978), pp. 217–246. ISSN: 0025-5831,1432-1807.
 DOI: 10.1007/BF01420123.
- [KK72] Peter Kiernan and Shoshichi Kobayashi. "Satake Compactification and Extension of Holomorphic Mappings". In: *Inventiones Mathematicae* 16 (1972), pp. 237–248. ISSN: 0020-9910,1432-1297. DOI: 10.1007/ BF01425496.
- [Knu83] F. F. Knudsen. "The Projectivity of the Moduli Space of Stable Curves. II,III". In: Mathematica Scandinavica 52.2 (1983), pp. 161–199, 200– 212. ISSN: 0025-5521.
- [KM76] F. F. Knudsen and D. Mumford. "The Projectivity of the Moduli Space of Stable Curves. I. Preliminaries on "Det" and "Div"". In: *Mathematica Scandinavica* 39.1 (1976), pp. 19–55. ISSN: 0025-5521.
- [KS88] J. Kollár and N. I. Shepherd-Barron. "Threefolds and Deformations of Surface Singularities". In: *Inventiones Mathematicae* 91.2 (1988), pp. 299–338. ISSN: 0020-9910.

REFERENCES

- [Kol23] János Kollár. Families of Varieties of General Type. Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2023. ISBN: 978-1-00-934610-8. DOI: 10.1017/9781009346115. (Visited on 01/28/2024).
- [Loo85] Eduard Looijenga. "Semi-Toric Partial Compactifications I". In: Nijmegen preprint series (1985), pp. 1–76.
- [Mum65] David Mumford. Geometric Invariant Theory. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1965, pp. vi+145.
- [Nam76] Yukihiko Namikawa. "A New Compactification of the Siegel Space and Degeneration of Abelian Varieties. I". In: *Mathematische Annalen* 221.2 (1976), pp. 97–141. ISSN: 0025-5831.
- [Nik79a] V. V. Nikulin. "Integer Symmetric Bilinear Forms and Some of Their Geometric Applications". In: Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat. 43.1 (1979), pp. 111–177, 238. ISSN: 0373-2436.
- [Nik79b] V. V. Nikulin. "Quotient-Groups of Groups of Automorphisms of Hyperbolic Forms of Subgroups Generated by 2-Reflections". In: *Doklady Akademii Nauk SSSR* 248.6 (1979), pp. 1307–1309. ISSN: 0002-3264.
- [Nue16] Howard Nuer. Unirationality of Moduli Spaces of Special Cubic Fourfolds and K3 Surfaces. June 2016. DOI: 10.48550/arXiv.1503.05256. arXiv: 1503.05256 [math]. (Visited on 06/07/2024).
- [PS71] I. I. Pjateckii-Sapiro and I. R. Shafarevich. "A Torelli Theorem for Algebraic Surfaces of Type K3". In: *Izvestiya: Mathematics* 5.3 (June 1971), pp. 547–588. DOI: 10.1070/IM1971v005n03ABEH001075.
- [Sca87] Francesco Scattone. "On the Compactification of Moduli Spaces for Algebraic K3 Surfaces". In: Memoirs of the American Mathematical Society 70.374 (1987), pp. x+86. ISSN: 0065-9266. DOI: 10.1090/memo/ 0374.
- [Vin75] È. B. Vinberg. "Some Arithmetical Discrete Groups in Lobacevski Spaces". In: Discrete Subgroups of Lie Groups and Applications to Moduli (Internat. Colloq., Bombay, 1973). Vol. No. 7. Tata Inst. Fundam. Res. Stud. Math. Published for the Tata Institute of Fundamental Research, Bombay by Oxford University Press, Bombay, 1975, pp. 323–348.
- [Vin85] È. B. Vinberg. "Hyperbolic Groups of Reflections". In: Rossíiskaya Akademiya Nauk 40.1(241) (1985), pp. 29–66, 255. ISSN: 0042-1316.

Department of Mathematics, University of Georgia, Athens GA 30602, USA $\mathit{Email}\ address: \verb+zack@uga.edu$